# **Bylaws**

#### of the

# Conference of County Court Judges of Florida, Inc.

(Effective July 27, 1996) (Amended July 2008) (Amended July 2018) (Amended July 2020)

#### § 1. NAME.

This organization established as the "Conference of County Court Judges of Florida, Inc." may also be known and referred to herein as the "Conference of County Court Judges of Florida", "CCCJF", and "Conference".

#### § 2. PURPOSE.

The purpose of this organization shall be the same as stated in its ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, Art. III, attached hereto and incorporated by reference and more particularly stated as to include the exercise of all power that is proper to further all purposes enumerated in Fla. R. Jud. Admin. Rule 2.220(a) attached hereto and incorporated by reference.

#### § 3. MEMBERSHIP.

- **a.** Members shall be the duly commissioned County Court Judges of the State of Florida.
- **b.** Voting members shall be those County Court Judges of the State of Florida whose dues have been paid or waived as well as those judges who have retired in good standing, who are not currently practicing law, and who still maintain an active role in the Conference of County Court Judges. Good standing means that a judge has not been removed from office.
- **c.** Associate members shall be those former County Court Judges who have retired in good standing, who are not currently practicing law, and who no longer maintain an active role in the conference. Annual dues for associate members shall be waived. Associate members shall not be voting members.
- **d.** Dues for voting members shall be determined by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.

# § 4. OFFICERS.

Management of the Conference shall be vested in the Officers of the Conference, an Executive Committee, and a Board of Directors.

- **a.** The officers of the Conference shall serve a term of one year and include:
  - **i.** The President, President-elect, Immediate Past President, Secretary, Treasurer and Editor who shall be elected at large; and
  - ii. One Vice-President elected from each appellate court district; and
  - **iii.** Legislative Chair, Conference Manager and Webmaster who shall be appointed by the President. Provided, however, the President and President-elect, may serve a second one-year term upon a majority vote of the members present at the regular annual meeting. In no event may a President or President-elect serve

more than two\_consecutive terms in each such office. It is the intent of the Conference that the President, President-elect be allowed potentially to serve two years (two one-year terms) that are closely coterminous with the Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court and presiding officers of the Florida legislature. The President-elect would only serve a second year in their respective position if the President serves a second year. Provided that the Secretary, Treasurer and Editor in an effort to promote expertise, uniformity and consistency in the respective positions may serve successive terms upon a majority vote of the members present at the regular annual meeting.

- **b.** The officers shall perform at a minimum the below described duties.
  - i. The President shall preside at meetings, appoint committees, and be the Executive Officer for the Conference and the Board of Directors, and shall carry out the duties usually associated with the office of President.
  - ii. The President-elect shall be considered First Vice President of the conference and shall perform such duties as usual to that office. He or she shall preside in the absence of the President, and upon resignation of the President, shall automatically become President and shall serve the uncompleted term of his or her predecessor and, if having been elected to the office of President-elect in accordance with that portion of the Bylaws covering elections, shall be installed as President for one full year term at the annual meeting, unless he or she shall decline such office. He or She shall, with the assistance of the Treasurer, prepare a proposed budget to be presented annually to the Board of Directors at the annual meeting for the ensuing fiscal year.
  - **iii.** The Immediate Past-President shall serve as a member of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee and shall assume such duties as assigned to him or her by the President and shall act in an advisory capacity to the President, Executive Committee, and the Board of Directors.
  - iv. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the conference and Board meetings and shall be responsible for providing those minutes on a timely basis to the Executive Secretary or their designee for publication to the general membership. The Secretary shall carry out all other duties usual to that office and shall be responsible for the safekeeping of these Bylaws to assure that they are compiled in final form

after all amendments and are made readily available to the membership upon proper demand.

- v. The Treasurer shall bill for and collect dues, keep the funds of the Conference and pay its bills and expenses, and shall carry out all other duties as are usual to this office and as are assigned by the President. The Treasurer shall prepare a financial report for the Conference twice per year. One report shall be presented at the Annual Business Meeting. Copies of both financial reports shall be made available to the general membership upon proper demand. It shall be the responsibility of the Treasurer to assure compliance with all tax and reporting requirements. Further, the Treasurer, shall assist the President-elect in preparing a proposed budget to be presented annually to the Board of Directors at the annual meeting for the ensuing fiscal year.
- vi. The District Vice President shall be the leader for his or her district. The Vice President shall report to the conference on any areas of interest or specific concerns within his or her own district. Each district Vice-President shall cooperate in striving to make the Conference a unified, effective organization, fairly representing the interests and needs of all members throughout the State of Florida. District Vice Presidents shall serve as members of the Editorial Committee.
- vii. The Editor shall be responsible for the preparation and distribution of the Conference newsletter which shall be published at regular intervals throughout the year. The Editor shall serve as chair of the Editorial Committee
- **viii.** The Legislative Chair appointed by the President shall perform the duties as directed by the President.
- **ix.** The Conference Manager appointed by the President shall perform the duties as directed by the President.
- **x.** The Webmaster appointed by the President shall at a minimum perform such duties as directed by the President.
- **xi.** The Executive Committee shall consist of the officers of the Conference and an Executive Secretary. The Executive Committee shall have the authority to act for the Board of Directors in the periods between Board meetings. The Executive Secretary is a non-voting member.
- c. The Board of Directors shall consist of all Past Presidents who are members of the Conference who have not attained senior judge status, the Executive Committee and a Circuit Representative elected from each judicial circuit. Subject to the limitations contained in these Bylaws, the business affairs of this conference shall be controlled by the Board of Directors. In addition to responsibility for conference management as described in §10, the Board of Directors shall be responsible for:
  - **i.** Establishing the objectives and priorities at the annual meeting that shall be pursued during the ensuring year by the Conference.
  - **ii.** Nominations for new officers at large of the Conference of County Court Judges of Florida, Inc.
  - **iii.** Selection of the site and time of the annual meeting and any other major meetings.

- **iv.** Recommendations to the Executive Committee regarding the respective needs of the various circuits.
- **v.** Establishing the position of the Conference on matters of public policy.
- **d.** Circuit Representatives in addition to serving on the Board of Directors shall at a minimum perform the following duties:
  - i. Timely notification to the Conference's Executive Secretary or their designee of the appointment, election, resignation or retirement of a Conference member.
  - **ii.** Timely notification to the Conference's Executive Secretary or their designee of updates to the Conference's Directory of Judges.
  - **iii.** Ordering and presenting newly elected/appointed judges within their circuit a desk name plate on behalf of the Conference.
  - **iv.** Timely notification to the Conference Award and Merit Committee of the investiture and retirement of Conference members.
  - v. Notifying the Conference Award and Merit Committee of times of bereavement, sympathy, congratulations and similar dates of note on behalf of the Conference members within their circuit so that the Conference Award and Merit Committee may take timely and appropriate action.
  - vi. Distribute and retrieve conference surveys or other documents of conference interest and to encourage each Conference member within his or her circuit to actively participate in such surveys or inquires.
  - vii. Schedule circuit- wide meetings with members between annual meetings, to keep minutes of the circuit- wide meetings, and to report the results and recommendations of the circuit-wide meetings to the Conference at the annual meeting.
  - viii. Submit to the Conference's Executive Secretary or their designee news items of interest concerning Conference Members or court business.
  - **ix.** Cooperate in striving to make the Conference a unified, effective organization fairly representing the interests and needs of all members throughout the State of Florida.

#### § 5. MEETINGS.

Nothing contained in these Bylaws shall be construed to prevent the calling of special meetings of the Conference by the President and/or Executive Committee or the calling of committee meetings by the President and/or Executive Committee or the respective chairpersons of committees. At a minimum the following in person meetings shall be conducted annually:

- **a.** The Annual Plenary meeting of the Conference shall be a Summer Conference and shall be held in the month of June or July as selected by the Board of Directors after recommendation from the Conference Committee.
- **b.** The Board of Directors shall conduct its initial meeting for the ensuing year immediately following and at the same location as the Annual Plenary meeting.
- **c.** The Board of Directors shall conduct a Winter Meeting during the months of January, February or March and when practicable in conjunction with the winter meeting of the Florida Bar. The Winter Meeting shall also include the

membership of Conference Committees called by the President.

**d.** The Executive Committee shall conduct a Fall Meeting to be noticed by the President and a summer meeting in conjunction with the annual convention of the Florida Bar.

# § 6. NON-CONFERENCE OFFICERS AND REPRESENTATIVES.

- **a.** As provided in Article V, Section 12, Florida Constitution as revised in 1968 and subsequently amended, and any future amendment thereto, the Conference shall **elect** the number of representatives to the Judicial Qualifications Commission specified in that provision. The representatives shall serve the term provided for by the Constitution or general law. A qualified member shall not be precluded from serving more than one term on the **Judicial Qualifications Commission**. Any vacancy shall be filled in the matter set forth in §8 of these bylaws.
- **b.** As provided in the rule on the **Judicial Ethics Advisory Committee**, and any future amendment thereto, the Conference shall **elect** the number of representatives to the Committee specified in that provision. Those representatives shall serve the term specified by the committee rule. Any vacancy shall be filled in the manner set forth in Section 8 of these bylaws. Since there is no specified term for representatives to the Judicial Ethics Advisory Committee the current representatives shall be eligible to serve one year from the effective date of these bylaws.
- **c.** There are various other bodies to which the Chief Justice appoints county judges and considers the recommendation of the Conference. The President shall recommend appointment to these bodies when appropriate.
- **d.** The Conference President may recommend delegates to the ABA to be appointed by the Chief Justice for representation at ABA meetings. The President shall be one of those delegates.
- **e.** The Florida Bar President appoints a County Court Judge as liaison to the Florida Bar Board of Governors. The Conference President shall recommend this appointment to the Bar President.
- **f.** Only voting members shall be eligible to hold all of the aforementioned positions. Any member serving a fixed term on any of the aforementioned bodies as of the effective date of these bylaws shall complete that term.

### § 7. CONFERENCE ELECTIONS.

- **a.** The Board of Directors shall open the floor and nominate at least one candidate for each elected office accepting District Vice Presidents and Circuit Representatives, during the Winter Board Meeting.
- **b.** Prior to the Winter Meeting the Administration and Management Committee shall solicit and receive nominations for each office subject to election. All such nominations shall be reported to the Board of Directors for consideration at the Winter Meeting. The final slate of officers nominated by the Board of Directors shall be published in the minutes thereof and posted on the conference website within 30 days. Nominations of the Board need not be seconded.
- c. From the close of the Winter Board meeting until the general session of the annual meeting any voting

- conference member may nominate any other voting conference member for office. All such nominations must be made and seconded in writing and submitted to the Conference President and Secretary.
- **d.** The President shall preside over the elections as a regular agenda item for the general session. The Chair of the Administration and Management Committee and its members shall assist the President in preparing for and conducting the election.
- **e.** At the general session existing nominations shall be announced. Immediately thereafter, nominations from the floor may be made. Nominations from the floor must also be seconded.
- **f.** Proxy voting shall be allowed at the annual meetings for all Conference elections. However, no Conference member may exercise more than two (2) other Conference members' votes by proxy. All proxies must be in writing and signed by the person making the proxy who must be otherwise eligible to vote. All written authorizations must be delivered by the member authorized to exercise the proxy to the presiding officer at the respective election covered by said proxy.
- g. There is no quorum requirement for elections during the general session. In each officer election, the person receiving a majority of the votes cast shall be declared the winner. In the event there is no clear majority, a runoff election shall be scheduled immediately between the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes.
- **h.** After the election and at the conclusion of the annual meeting of the conference all elected officers and members of the Board of Directors shall assume office, except the President-elect shall become President by virtue of having been elected President-elect and having served in such a capacity immediately precedent to the annual meeting.
- i. At the end of the annual meeting the President shall automatically be succeeded by the President-elect except when the President and President-elect are serving a second consecutive year term. The motion for the President and President-elect to serve a second consecutive year term must be made prior to the conclusion of the Winter Board of Directors Meeting to be voted upon at the annual meeting. This motion shall be voted upon at the general session of the annual meeting prior to the nominations and elections for office of President-elect. In no event may a President or President-elect serve more than two consecutive terms in each such office. If the motion is not made or if the motion is made and defeated, then the President-elect shall succeed the President and there shall be an election for the office of President-elect in conformity with these bylaws. This motion shall be voted upon at the general session of the annual meeting prior to the nominations and elections for office of President-elect. In no event may a President or President-elect serve more than two consecutive terms in each such office. If the motion is not made or if the motion is made and defeated, then the President-elect shall succeed the President and there shall be an election for the office of President-elect in conformity with these bylaws.
- **j.** Elections for District Vice Presidents shall be conducted by the respective groups immediately after the general election or, if possible, while votes from the general

election are being tabulated. Proxy voting shall be permitted to the extent permitted by §7.f.

- **k.** Each Circuit shall elect a representative to the Board of Directors no later than 60 days prior to the annual Summer Conference. The current Circuit Representative shall conduct the election by any method acceptable to the judges of his or her circuit and shall immediately notify the President and President-Elect of the results.
- I. If the annual meeting is cancelled for any reason the President shall convene a meeting of the Executive Committee within 30 days of official notice of cancellation or as soon as practical. The Executive Committee shall set the method of election for those subject to election. The Executive Committee shall insure that the election is as consistent as practical with the bylaws as found in §7 and shall be conducted via a secure and verifiable means using readily available internet technology.

#### § 8. VACANCIES AND APPOINTMENTS.

- **a.** Should the office of President-elect become vacant except as provided in §8.b. said office shall be filled by a member appointed by the Executive Committee at a special meeting. The meeting shall be called, and the vacancy filled within thirty (30) days of the vacancy. If the annual meeting occurs within thirty (30) days of said vacancy then, the vacancy may be filled at the annual meeting by general election.
- b. Should the office of President and President-elect become vacant at the same time, then the office of President shall be assumed by the Secretary and the office of President-elect and the office of Secretary shall be filled by members appointed by the Executive Committee at a special meeting as outlined in §8.a. If the annual meeting occurs within thirty (30) days of said vacancy, then the vacancy may be filled at the annual meeting by general election. Should there be a need for a special meeting of the Executive Committee it shall be presided over by the Immediate Past-President, or in his or her absence or inability, by the Treasurer.
- **c.** A President-elect appointed in accordance with §8.a. and §8.b. shall serve until the next annual meeting at which time the term of office shall expire, and he or she shall not automatically become President at the next annual meeting unless duly elected to the presidency by the Conference. In that event the office of the President will be subject to nomination and general election in the same manner as the other elections of officers covered by these Bylaws.
- **d.** Should the office of Immediate Past-President become vacant, the vacancy shall be assumed by the member who most recently has served as Immediate Past-President, and if there are none, this office shall remain vacant until there is an Immediate Past-President.
- e. Vacancies in office occurring after the annual meeting other than the office of President, President-elect, and immediate Past-President shall be filled by appointment by the President until the next annual meeting. However, when a vacancy occurs in the office of Circuit Representative, the circuit having that vacancy shall have fifteen (15) days within which to replace their own representative. If the Circuit Representative is not replaced by the circuit within fifteen (15) days, then the responsibility to appoint that representative reverts to the President.

f. Should a vacancy occur in the office of County Court Representative to the Judicial Qualifications Committee, or County Court Representative to the Judicial Ethics Advisory Committee, then said vacancy shall be filled by appointment of the President as soon as is practical so long as the vacancy occurred more than 30 days from the annual meeting. If the annual meeting of the conference is scheduled to occur within thirty (30) days of said vacancy, then the vacancy shall be filled by nomination and election at the annual meeting consistent with these bylaws.

#### § 9. IMPEACHMENT.

Any officer of the Conference or member of the Board of Directors may be removed from the office for misfeasance or nonfeasance in office, or for any act or failure to act in any capacity which may reflect adversely upon this Conference. A majority vote of the Board of Directors shall constitute the petition for removal, but a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote of the members present and voting at the annual meeting or any other special meeting called by the President with at least thirty (30) days' notice to the general membership shall be required for impeachment. No vote may be taken unless such person has been notified in writing of the impeachment proposal. Such person shall be given an opportunity to address the members of the Board of Directors, as well as the general membership, before a final vote on the impeachment proposal is taken. Any vacancy created by such removal shall be filled in the same manner as other vacancies.

## § 10. CONFERENCE MANAGEMENT.

- **a.** The Treasurer shall have the authority to authorize payment of conference expenses in the amount of \$500 or less. The President shall have the authority to authorize conference expenses in the amount of \$1,000 or less. For amounts greater than \$1,000 the President must authorize payment along with the President-elect, Secretary, Treasurer, or Editor. The Treasurer, upon receiving proper written authorization shall pay those bills authorized in accordance with this Section and shall pay those bills incurred as a result of standing policy or authorization of the Board of Directors.
- b. Such business that comes before the Conference may be adopted if approved by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors at a properly scheduled Board meeting after a quorum is established. A quorum is established by having present a majority of the members of the Board of Directors after having given reasonable notice to all members. Proxy voting is not permitted for establishing a quorum or for voting on conference business. Members may be present by telephone for both purposes of a quorum and voting. Any member of the Board of Directors serving as a Board member in more than one capacity may not exercise more than one vote on any single issue.
- c. The Executive Committee in the periods between Board meetings may also have authority to approve conference business upon a majority vote with the same authority as the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee cannot vote on conference business unless quorum is established. Executive Committee quorum is established by having present a majority of voting members after having given reasonable notice to all members. Proxy voting is not permitted for establishing quorum or for

voting on conference business. Members may be present by telephone for both purposes of quorum and voting.

**d.** The fiscal year for the Conference shall be from July 1 through June 30 of the following year.

## § 11. ADOPTION OR AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS.

- **a.** These Bylaws shall be effective upon adoption by the Incorporators. These Bylaws shall be presented to those members in attendance at the annual meeting held during the Summer Education Conference in calendar year 2018 for adoption and ratification, or modification, by two-thirds (2/3) vote. The provisions of these Bylaws specifying time requirements for nominations and second terms shall be waived only for the 2018 annual elections since the nominating period described herein shall have expired prior to the approval of these Bylaws.
- **b.** These Bylaws shall be amended only by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those members in attendance at a meeting called pursuant to §5.
- c. Adoption of these Bylaws or amendment of these Bylaws may be made only after notice to the general membership in writing no less than thirty (30) days prior to the time of the annual meeting or special meeting of the Conference. Proof of posting of notice thirty (30) days prior to such meeting shall satisfy this requirement.

#### § 12. PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES.

- **a.** The Rules of Parliamentary Procedures set forth in Robert's Rules of Order, as such rules may be revised from time to time, shall govern the proceedings of this conference, subject to such special rules as may be adopted by this conference.
- **b.** Within thirty (30) days of assumption of office, the President shall appoint a Parliamentarian for the upcoming year. The Parliamentarian shall, at the request of any member, interpret the Rules of Parliamentary Procedures as they relate to the proceedings of the conference, subject to such special rules as may be adopted by the Board of Directors.

#### § 13. COMMITTEES.

- a. Standing committees shall be created for the investigation, study or implementation of matters relating to the general purposes, business and interest of the Conference of a continuous and recurring character. The Board of Directors shall determine the scope of responsibility and the duties of each standing committee. There shall be the following standing committees: Administration and Management Committee; Judicial Assistants Committee; Awards and Merit Committee; Legislative Committee; Civil Rules Committee; Professional Relations Committee; Conference Committee; Senior Judge Committee; Criminal Rules Committee; Sentencing Committee; Editorial Committee; Small Claims Committee; Education Committee; Traffic Committee, Problem Solving Courts Committee, Court Technology Committee, Committee of 33.
- **b.** Although all conference members are encouraged to attend standing committee meetings, membership shall be determined by Presidential appointment to existing vacancies. However, in no event shall standing committee membership be reduced by eliminating a member whose

current term has not expired other than pursuant to Section 9 of this article.

- c. Unless otherwise defined herein, standing committee members shall serve one (1) year terms. The President shall be responsible for appointing standing committee members upon the creation of any vacancies during his or her term. The President shall also select the chair and vice-chair from the committee members. Appointments shall be made and published sixty (60) days in advance of the Summer Conference. The chair and vice- chair shall each serve one (1) year terms. The vice-chair shall automatically replace the chair of any committee upon the creation of a vacancy in mid-term. However, the vice- chair shall not automatically succeed the chair at the beginning of the next term. Committee membership shall reflect proper geographical, ethnic, racial, and gender balance. There is no prohibition against reappointment of committee chairs, vice-chairs, or members.
- d. The district Vice Presidents, the Editor and the Webmaster shall make up the Editorial Committee for the Conference newsletter and website. It shall be the responsibility of the District Vice Presidents to provide articles for publication in the conference newsletter. The President in conjunction with the Editor shall determine the frequency with which the District Vice Presidents shall provide such articles. The articles can be written by the District Vice President or by someone in his or her district. However, the ultimate responsibility for providing the articles for publication rests with the District Vice President. It shall be the responsibility of the Editorial Committee to oversee the design and content of the Conference's website.
- **e.** Membership on the Education Committee shall include all conference members who currently serve as Dean, Associate Dean, or Chairperson of the College of Advanced Judicial Studies, the Florida Judicial College, and the DUI Traffic Adjudication Lab.
- **f.** In an effort to assure equal representation from all jurisdictions, the Legislative Committee shall consist of the twenty (20) Circuit Representatives or their designee for that year, five (5) members at large appointed by the President, all Past- Presidents, the President, and President-
- **g.** The President may combine multiple committees into one committee for a period of time not to exceed his or her term of office.
- h. In addition to standing committees, the President shall have authority to create committees to investigate, study, and implement matters relating to specific purposes, business and interests of the Conference of an immediate or non-recurring character. The term of such committee shall end at the next annual conference of the Conference following its creation unless continued by action of the successor President.
- i. Appointment of chairpersons and members of the committees shall be made annually by the President, who is authorized also to appoint successors, in the event of death, resignation, or disqualification.
- **j.** If any member of any regular or standing committee over the course of one year does not actively participate in the committee, the chair, after notice to and discussion with the member, may recommend to the President of the

conference that the member be replaced and the President may then replace that member.

- **k.** Each committee shall meet during the annual meeting of the conference and during any other regularly scheduled general conference meetings. Other meetings of each committee shall be held upon call of its chairperson or upon call of the conference president. The chairperson shall submit to the Executive Secretary or their designee: Notice of the time, date and location for all meetings (or call-in number for telephonic meetings), and a copy of the Agenda prior to the meeting; and the minutes of the meeting subsequent thereto.
- **l.** All committees shall have a dedicated forum on the website and the chairperson and members are encouraged to make use of the forum for the conduct of committee business.
- **m.** The President and President-elect shall be ex officio members of all committees.

# §14 NOTIFICATION AND PUBLICATION

- **a.** Wherein these bylaws require Notice to the general membership, the requirement shall be satisfied by posting on the Conference website.
- **b.** Wherein these bylaws require the sending of notice to a particular officer or committee, notice should be delivered via email to the necessary officer or chair of the committee at the email listed in the Conference website directory and copied to Conference Executive Secretary or their designee.